FILED

JUL 31 2014

No. 320596

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

v.

MICHAEL W. ROBISON

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SPOKANE COUNTY

HONORABLE SALVADORE COZZA

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tracy Scott Collins Attorney for Appellant 1312 N. Monroe Spokane, Washington 99201 (509)326-1020

II. ISSUES

- A. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by allowing extensive evidence of Appellant's drug addiction in testimony in spite of a pre-trial ruling that excluded that very evidence on the theory that the "door had been opened ?
- B. Whether the Appellants right to remain silent and not provide evidence against himself was violated by the State's continuous referral to the fact that he had been court ordered to submit to a buccal swab for DNA evidence ?
- C. Whether the combination of Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 401's language regarding "abiding belief" and

argument by the State violated the Appellant's right to a fair trial ?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 2013, Appellant's trial on one count of robbery in the first degree began in Spokane County Superior Court. At issue was a robbery that occurred on January 9, 2011, at the Baskin and Robbins on Fourteenth and Grand in Spokane Washington. RP 115 - 118. A lone man wearing a full face ski mask and sweat pants entered that location and brandished what later was discovered to be a fake air soft pistol while demanding cash. RP 116 & 180. The hat, sweat pants and pistol were discovered by a dog track behind a building immediately to the north of the Baskin and Robbins under a sign stashed in a snow bank. RP 301 - 302. All those items were admitted at trial. RP 174 - 183. No suspect was apprehended at the time of the crime. RP 271.

When Detective Hill received the case for investigation on October 10, 2011, there was not a suspect in the case. RP 341. There were no fingerprints found on the fake pistol. RP 345. On February 28, 2011, crime lab results for DNA analysis came back with an "unknown individual A" as the primary contributor of the sample taken from the ski mask recovered at the crime scene. RP 347. There was no DNA profile matching this primary contributor in the databases kept by law enforcement known as CODIS. RP 347. No suspect was identified from this evidence. RP 347. With no further evidence, Detective Hill suspended the case. RP 348.

On approximately October 4, 2011, a Breanne Snyder came forward to prosecutors and detectives claiming that Appellant committed the robbery. RP 326 - 335, 349. Because Ms. Snyder was involved in the robbery she was allowed a free talk to provide her information without the possibility of prosecution in the case. RP 88, 327 - 333. Ms. Snyder's record of criminal behavior was horrendous including several crimes of dishonesty. RP 82 - 86. All those crimes were put in a diversion or deferred prosecution after she came forward with the information against Appellant. RP 86.

With the evidence from Ms. Snyder, Detective hill was able to narrow down his case to Appellant as the suspect. RP 349. Appellant was cooperative. RP 351. Detective Hill testified that he was granted a search warrant to get a DNA sample from Appellant. RP 350. The State asked specifically "Without the search warrant, could you have forced Mr. Robinson to give you DNA". RP 350. Detective Hill's response was a simple "I could not". RP 350. During direct examination of the defendant the State made a speaking objection stating that "He (the Appellant) was ordered to give a sample of DNA. The misgivings are irrelevant". RP 377. The Washington State Crime Lab was able to match Appellants DNA to "unknown individual A". RP 225, 352.

Prior to the beginning of trial the court had ruled that Ms. Snyder could testify that she and the Appellant needed the money for drugs. RP 18. Ms. Snyder testified at trial that she was an "opiate" addict and she and Appellant needed to rob to get money for pills. RP 41, 43. Further, over objection she was allowed to testify that the money from the robbery was used to purchase oxycotton. RP 61. Direct examination of Appellant did not bring up any drug addiction or use. During cross examination of Appellant the State questioned him extensively regarding his use of opiates until the flagrant violation of the court's pre-trial ruling forced an objection to the entire line of questioning. RP 381 - 383. The court overruled the objection saying "The door is opened". 383. The State continued with the line of questioning, RP 383, and again in cross examination. RP 395.

In the State's closing argument it used the drug abuse by both Ms. Snyder and the Appellant with effectiveness to characterize the relationship between the two, RP 445, 455, 463, and to argue that their drug abuse together was the motive for the Appellant to rob the Baskins and Robbins. RP 453.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the trial the court provided what it considered a correct version of the jury instructions. RP 426. Both the State and the Appellant objected to the inclusion of the bracketed material for WPIC 401 "abiding belief in the truth of the crime charged" language. RP 426. In closing arguments the State argued "You folks are the ones charged with figuring out what is important." RP 452. Further, that the State's version of what happened on January 9, 2011, is the only "reasonable" explanation. RP 458. In fact, the State's entire argument focused extensively on reasonableness. RP 463 - 470.

On October 31, 2014, Appellant was found guilty of robbery in the first degree by jury verdict.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

•

Abuse of Discretion on all evidentiary issues. <u>State v.</u> <u>Gallagher</u>, 112 Wn. App. 601, 609, 51 P.3d 100 (2002).

 B. <u>State's Continuous Use of Appellant's Drug Addiction at</u> <u>Trial was in Flagrant Violation of the Trial Court's Pre-</u> <u>trial Ruling and the door was not opened by Appellant's</u> <u>testimony</u>.

Beginning with <u>State v. Gallagher</u>, 112 Wn. App. 601, 609, 53 100 (2002), there has been an exception to pre-trial rulings that preclude evidence if the "door is opened" by testimony offered by the beneficiary of the ruling by proffering testimony on the subject matter that has been excluded. The point being to prevent a false impression regarding the evidence excluded pre-trial by the party that opens the door. <u>Id</u>. 610. That rule has continued in tact through the present day. <u>State v.</u> <u>Hartzell</u>, 156 Wn. App. 918, 932, 237 P.3rd 928 (2010). The caveat, however, has always remained that the original proponent of the evidence that was excluded by pre-trial ruling cannot "open the door" to its later introduction by asking the very questions that are meant to elicit the excluded evidence or testimony. <u>Gelleher</u>, supra at 609, <u>State v. Koss</u>, 158 Wn. App. 8, 241 P.3d 415 (2010). In every case on 'opening the door" the defendant introduced evidence through his own witness that either took advantage of the pre-trial exclusion of evidence or brought it to the jury's attention.

A proponent of the evidence cannot create the circumstance necessary to violate a pre-trial ruling then take advantage of that deception by walking through that door. In Appellant's case the pre-trial ruling by the court was clear. The State could elicit testimony that she and the Appellant needed

-13-

the money for drugs. The State, however, wishing to emphasize the need for "motive" in the case, RP 10, and lacking any other on Appellant's part, repeatedly brought up the drugs and drug addiction at every opportunity. The Appellant mentioned nothing of drugs in direct examination. In flagrant violation of the court's pre-trial order, the State pushed the Appellant into admitting a drug addiction to opiates, and repeatedly made a connection to the crime and that addiction. Upon defense objection, the court ruled simply that the "door had been opened". The State repeatedly raised it again during its closing argument.

The Appellant's drug addiction was certainly not relevant or admissible at trial, as the trial court had correctly ruled in its pre-trial motions. The Appellant did nothing to "open the door" to the admission of that evidence. In effect what happened was the Appellant was denied a fair trial because the court excluded the evidence until a point where the Appellant could not have

-14-

lessened the damage to the jury by admitting his addiction of his own accord. And the State, with the collusion of the court, was able to violate a argued and ruled upon motion that the defense had adhered to religiously in order to paint a picture of the Appellant that he was the drug addicted architect of a robbery scheme to get money for drugs.

The scenario described above is exactly what happened in this case. It is up to this court to decide if this was either not an abuse of the trial court's discretion or "harmless error". It is a too familiar decision. This circumstance was a flagrant violation of the Appellant's right to strategise for his presentation of his case, based on the court's pre-trial ruling, and to be protected by Evidence Rule 404(b)'s introduction of irrelevant and inadmissible bad acts. The trial court had already weighed the State's arguments and found them wanting. The jury was told Appellant was a drug addict and a bad influence on the witness that came in and testified that she had helped commit the robbery. Appellant was deprived of a fair trial. Appellant respectfully requests this court recognize this violation and remand this case for a new trial.

C.. <u>The State Violated Appellant's Right to Remain Silent</u> <u>and not to Incriminate Himself when it repeatedly</u> <u>referred to the Fact that He had been Court Ordered to</u> <u>Submit to a Buccal Swab for DNA Evidence</u>.

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article one, section nine of the Washington State Constitution guarantee that no person in a criminal case shall be compelled in any criminal case to give evidence against himself. <u>State v. Unga</u>, 165 Wn.2d 95, 196 P.3d 645 (2008). In <u>State v.</u> <u>Modica</u>, 18 Wn App. 467, 475, 569 P.3d 1161 (1977), the Court quoted the United States Supreme Court in <u>Doyle v. Ohio</u>, 426 U.S. 610, 617-619, 96 S.Ct. 2240, 49 L.Ed.2d 91 (1976), in stating ". . . it would be fundamentally unfair and a deprivation

of due process to allow the arrested person's silence to be used to impeach an explanation subsequently offered at trial". Finally, and although this issue has not been addressed in Washington law as far as counsel is able to devise, the Colorado Court of Appeals has addressed the issue of whether or not a refusal to allow a search if used as primary evidence by the State would be a violation of the Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. Colorado v. Chavez, 190 P.3d 760, 763 (2007). Mr. Chavez argued unsuccessfully in that case that to admit evidence of a defendant's refusal to voluntarily consent to a search is essentially punishing the defendant for exercising a Constitutional right. Id. 766. The fundamental reason that argument was unsuccessful was that the Court concluded that, although the State's references to the refusal to consent to a search were "improper", the rest of the evidence against the defendant was "overwhelming", and any error was, apparently,

harmless. Id. 767.

In this case the question of consent was much more personal than Mr. Chavez' refusal to allow a search of his apartment. The State was relentless in its pursuit of the fact that Appellant was forced by a court order to provide a sample of his DNA. Detective Hill was asked if "Without the search warrant could you have obtained DNA from Mr. Robison? Let me state that question a better way. Without the search warrant could you have forced Mr. Robison to give you DNA?" Detective Hill answered "I could not". The State went on "Was the search warrant granted?" Detective Hill "Yes it was". Then again within minutes the prosecutor asked the same question, "Were you able to get a lawful search warrant in this case to collect DNA from Mr. Robison?" Defense counsel objected "asked and answered". The court "I will permit that". Detective Hill: "I did". RP 350. During direct examination of Appellant he was asked if he had any misgivings about giving a sample of his

DNA? Appellant responded "I didn't commit the crime I had no" then he was abruptly cut off by the State's speaking objection that "He was ordered to give a sample of DNA. The misgivings are irrelevant".

Prior to all this parlance there was never any evidence offered as to whether or not Appellant was ever "forced by the order" to give a sample of his DNA. For the State to ask him if he had refused to voluntarily give his DNA would have been a clear violation so the prosecutor skirted that issue entirely by merely asserting that he was forced to give his DNA. It must be kept in mind that other than the "free talk" with Ms. Snyder, a potential co-defendant and a career offender with no less than six prior offences hanging in the balance, there was no suspect in this case. She was not a reliable witness to stand on her own. The DNA was the kicker that corroborated a weak case, and the State knew full well it had to concentrate on it and give the jury the impression that Appellant had some thing to hide and he

knew it. Hence the repeated over emphasis on the unknown fact that he was forced to provide a sample of his DNA. This makes this case unique in the fact that Mr. Robison was compelled to be a witness against himself by the repeated overt references to his "refusal" to provide a sample of his DNA.

Based on this flagrant violation of Mr. Robison's rights as outlined above Appellant respectfully requests the court reverse his conviction and remand for a new trial.

D. The Inclusion of the Bracket Language regarding "Abiding Belief in the Truth of the Crime Charged" in WPIC 401 Deprived the Appellant of a Fair Trial.

Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 401, when including the bracketed material reads thus:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty, which puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State, as plaintiff, has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. (If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.)

In <u>State v, Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.2d 653 (2012), and <u>State v, Berube</u>, 286 P.3d 402, 411 (2012), both courts determined that the State's argument that a jury's job is to search for the truth is impermissible. The bracketed material in WPIC 401 inexorably connects the concepts of truth and being satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. To argue or distinguish otherwise is to defy all logic. "If . . . you have an abiding belief in the truth of the crime charged you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt". The State in this case confined its argument to reasonableness of the evidence, but how can a juror be expected to not equate reasonableness with his or her abiding belief in the truth of the crime charged when they are desperately searching for a definition for "reasonable doubt", and the bracketed material gives them the only clear explanation.

This case differs significantly in that both the State and Defense Counsel objected to the giving of the bracketed sentence. The court gave the instruction over both objections. The question must be asked why? The only reasonable explanation must be that the court deems the connection between belief in the truth of the crime charged and being

-22-

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt. Which is only reasonable, but it is improper.

Based on the courts including the bracketed material in the final jury instructions over the objection of counsel and the danger of infusing the search for truth into the jury deliberations, Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse the conviction and remand for new trial.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Michael Robison respectfully requests this Court reverse the conviction for robbery in the first degree and remand for a new trial.