FILED

September 18, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

32059-6-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MICHAEL W. ROBISON, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STEVEN J. TUCKER Prosecuting Attorney

Andrew J. Metts Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the State to question the Defendant/Appellant regarding a drug addiction contrary to its own pretrial ruling under the theory that the "door was opened" during direct examination.
- 2. The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the State to repeatedly assert that the Defendant/Appellant had been forced to submit to a buccal swab in violation of his Right to Remain Silent.
- 3. The trial court committed reversible error when it allowed the use of the controversial Washington Pattern Jury Instruction 4.01 including the bracketed "abiding belief in truth of the crime charged" language over the objection of both the State and the Defendant/Appellant.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- Did the trial court exceed its discretion in permitting the State to inquire about a drug addiction because the "door had been opened"?
- 2. Did the trial court err when it permitted the state to inquire of the detective regarding acquiring a search warrant to obtain the defendant's DNA?

3. Did the trial court err when it used the WPIC 4.01 with "abiding belief" language?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Breanne Snyder testified that the defendant was her exboyfriend. RP 35. She testified that she developed a drug addiction following an injury. RP 38. Shortly after leaving treatment, she began dating the defendant. RP 40. Ms. Snyder recalled that she and the defendant were still a couple on January 9, 2011. RP 41. She noted that she was withdrawing from opiates, she was tired, easy to anger, frustrated, and really upset. RP 41. Her pill of choice was an opiate, at approximately \$80 per pill. At the time of the robbery, Ms. Snyder had no money to spend on drugs. RP 41. She wanted to get more pills in order to calm her symptoms. RP 42. Ms. Snyder remembered talking with the defendant on the date in question with the goal of formulating a plan to figure out how to get either the pills or money for the pills. RP 43. Ms. Snyder and the defendant decided that they would have to rob someone in order to get money. RP 43. According to Ms. Snyder the defendant owned a white Tacoma truck with a manual shift. RP 44. Ms. Snyder stated that she did not know how to drive a manual transmission but was learning. RP 44.

Ms. Snyder could not remember how, but did remember ending up on Grand Avenue in Spokane. RP 45. She recalled being in the driver's

seat and the defendant getting out of the vehicle. She described the defendant as wearing jeans, with Ms. Snyder's Old Navy sweats over the top, a white T-shirt, a black sweatshirt, a black ski mask, and black-type gloves. RP 45-46.

Ms. Snyder identified a BB gun that she indicated was used in the robbery at Baskin-Robbins. She identified the person using the BB gun as the defendant. RP 52. From the Toyota pickup truck, Ms. Snyder saw the defendant hold the gun up to the girl working inside the Baskin-Robbins. As Ms. Snyder maneuvered the pickup truck around behind the Baskin-Robbins in order to pick up the defendant, she saw what she described as two off-duty firefighters. She came to the conclusion that the two were firefighters because one of them had a firefighting sweatshirt on. RP 57. Ms. Snyder could not locate the defendant and continued to drive around the area. RP 57-58. Ms. Snyder finally spotted the defendant approximately 7 to 10 minutes after the robbery and he was wearing different clothing. His outer clothing had been removed. RP 58.

Ms. Snyder indicated that she pulled over to the side of the road and the defendant jumped into the truck. RP 58. He was out of breath. RP 58. She could not recall at what point she switched seats with the defendant but as they were sorting things out, she started hearing sirens coming from, what seemed to Ms. Snyder as, every direction. RP 59.

The defendant was described as being a little frustrated he got only \$75 from the robbery. RP 60. The defendant told Ms. Snyder that two men had chased him and that he had had to take off his outer clothes and leave them under a slanted board. RP 61.

Ms. Snyder testified that the money was spent on "OxyContin." RP 61. According to her testimony, both Ms. Snyder and the defendant saw reports of the robbery on the news. RP 62. When asked if she had considered calling the police to report the events, she stated "no." RP 62.

Ms. Sharron Callant was working in the Baskin-Robbins store on the date in question. RP 116. The store is located at 14th and Grand. RP 116. Ms. Callant testified that sometime between 7:00 and 7:30 p.m. on January 9, 2011, a man came into the store and started yelling at her. RP 118. He was waving a gun around and saying "Give me all the money in the store, give it all to me, give it to me right now." RP 118. The person pointed the gun directly at her face. RP 119. The voice sounded very deep and very loud. RP 119. Ms. Callant testified that the man was "tall," definitely taller than she was. RP 120. Ms. Callant is 5'5". RP 120. She described the man as having jeans on, a dark black or blue sweatshirt with hood pulled up and a red stocking mask pulled down over his face. There were eye and mouth holes in the mask. RP 120.

Ms. Callant testified that she wanted to keep him calm so she walked him through each step that she took. RP 121. She opened the register and one at a time handed him chunks of bills. RP 121. She told the man "Here's the twenties, here's the tens, here's the fives, here's the ones." RP 121. Ms. Callant thought she handed the person with the gun approximately \$140. RP 121. She thought that if she did not give the man the money he would probably shoot her. RP 123.

Mr. Clifford Graham testified that he was working as a bartender at Press Public House which is a bar near Sacred Heart Hospital. RP 131. Mr. Graham noticed a white Toyota pickup truck that had pulled up with a female sitting inside it. RP 132. Mr. Graham thought that was odd, but he continued his work of collecting glassware on the patio and then smoking a cigarette. RP 132. Mr. Graham saw a male come running down the hill, hop in the truck and take off. RP 132. Mr. Graham could not give a certain description of the male but thought that he was medium build, 5'8" to 6' in height. RP 133. Shortly after the Toyota pickup departed, Mr. Graham remembered perhaps three or four Spokane Police Department cars racing up Grand Boulevard towards the Baskin-Robbins. RP 133-34. Mr. Graham could not identify either the male or the female in the Toyota.

Scott Coldiron testified that he was a fire Lieutenant for the City of Spokane. RP 139. Scott Coldiron recalled that on the date in question he

was having dinner in an establishment next to the Baskin-Robbins with his brother, girlfriend, and mother. Scott Coldiron's brother, Darrin, abruptly stood up and stated that it looked like the Baskin-Robbins was being robbed. RP 141. Darrin Coldiron ran out of the restaurant followed by Scott Coldiron. RP 141. Scott Coldiron testified that he saw an individual coming out of the Baskin-Robbins at a quick pace. RP 141. The individual turned right and went up the sidewalk at a run. RP 141. Scott Coldiron described the individual as a male approximately 5'9" and wearing a dark hoody. RP 142. Both of the Coldirons chased the individual. RP 142. At one point, Scott Coldiron decided to abandon the chase because the fleeing person had entered a brushy area and it was unknown whether the person was armed or might be a threat to him. Darrin had already returned to the Baskin-Robbins RP 144. Scott Coldiron noted that the individual was "very fast." RP 144. Scott Coldiron recalled seeing a white pickup that he thought might be a Toyota or Nissan pickup. RP 146. He noticed the pickup because it appeared that "they" were looking at him. RP 146. The actions of the pickup caused Scott Coldiron to think that the driver was attempting to pick somebody up. Scott Coldiron could not remember whether anyone other than the driver was in the vehicle but that the driver was female. RP 146.

Darrin Coldiron told the court that he worked for the Spokane Valley Fire Department as a firefighter. RP 154. Darrin Coldiron testified to a similar series of events as did his brother. RP 155-59. Darrin Coldiron recalled the person entering the Baskin-Robbins as wearing a hoody covering most of his face and moving very quickly. RP 156. Darrin Coldiron did not get an identification of the individual other than he was a thin, 5'9" person that Darrin Coldiron assumed was male. RP 156. Darrin Coldiron stated that he did not get a good enough look at the person to make an identification. RP 157.

Officer Joseph Dotson is employed by the Spokane Police Department. RP 160. Officer Dotson responded to the area of the robbery of the Baskin-Robbins and set up a perimeter. RP 163. Officer Dotson was advised that the suspect in the robbery was a male of unknown race wearing a red ski mask and a black sweatshirt. RP 164. Officer Dotson assisted in collecting evidence. RP 167. Officer Dotson described a set of garbage cans in a back alley located near the Baskin-Robbins. RP 167. In the courtroom, the officer was asked about exhibits and he recognized exhibit number three as being a pair of woolen gloves or mittens. RP 168. Officer Dotson identified a photograph of an Airsoft pistol. RP 174. There was also a red ski mask and an additional piece of clothing next to the mask. RP 174. The officer identified exhibit number seven as a sweatshirt

recovered from the alley. RP 176. Officer Dotson identified exhibit number two as a black-billed hat collected at the scene. RP 178. State's exhibit number four was identified as gray sweatpants that were recovered from the snowbank in the alley area. RP 179. State's exhibit number five was identified by Officer Dotson as the red ski mask recovered from the area. RP 179. The last exhibit admitted was an Airsoft pistol recovered from the area. RP 180.

Ms. Lisa Turpen was called to testify regarding DNA evidence in this case. Ms. Turpen indicated that she was a forensic scientist employed by the Washington State Patrol. RP 193. Ms. Turpen explained to the jury the various instruments used to test DNA and the procedures used in processing DNA evidence. RP 194-215. Ms. Turpen related that at the time she did the initial tests on the material submitted, there was no named suspect so she had no known reference sample. RP 215. Ms. Turpen was eventually supplied with a DNA sample from the defendant which she processed and compared to the profiles she had previously developed from the submitted materials. RP 223-225. Ms. Turpen testified that the defendant's DNA matched that of the DNA extracted from three separate pieces of evidence submitted for processing. RP 227.

Sergeant Brian Eckersley was a sergeant for the Spokane Police Department. RP 259. When the radio call came out regarding the robbery at Baskin-Robbins, Sergeant Eckersley responded. RP 261. The Sergeant spoke with the victim of the robbery and took her statement. RP 262. The victim described the robber as a male about 5'8" to 5'9" with a thin build, about 140 pounds. RP 263. She thought that the male was in his twenties. She indicated that the robber wore a blue-hooded sweatshirt with pockets in the front and no zipper, and a red stocking mask that had eye and a mouth holes cut out. RP 264. The suspect was also wearing gloves. RP 264.

A K-9 unit responded to the scene but was unable to locate or capture the defendant. RP 292-301.

Spokane Detective Mark Burbridge became involved in this case when he was contacted by a prosecutor in regards to a "free talk" involving Breanne Snyder. RP 326. Detective Burbridge testified that at that point he had never heard of Ms. Snyder. RP 326. Detective Burbridge did not believe that Ms. Snyder was wanted or under investigation for the robbery at Baskin-Robbins. RP 332. When the detective first began speaking with Ms. Snyder, he thought that he would be working on a first-degree robbery. RP 334. Detective Burbridge prepared a report on the information he had received from Ms. Snyder and gave that report to Detective Marty Hill. RP 334-35.

Detective Marty Hill testified that when he was assigned this case there was no identification of the suspect in the robbery. RP 341. There were no fingerprints found on the firearm. RP 345. DNA analysis of the evidence showed a suspect profile of an unknown male. RP 347. Detective Hill was in the office when Detective Burbridge asked if anyone had a robbery that concerned a Baskin-Robbins. RP 348. Detectives Hill and Burbridge discussed the information and then Detective Hill knew that Detective Burbridge had spoken with someone directly involved in the robbery case. RP 348-49. From the information gathered from Detective Burbridge, Detective Hill was able to narrow down the robbery suspect to the defendant. RP 349. Detective Hill informed the prosecutor that he would want to obtain a sample of DNA from Mr. Robison. RP 350. Detective Hill filled out a search warrant request to obtain the defendant's DNA. RP 350. During Detective Hill's testimony, the prosecutor asked the detective if he could have forced the defendant to give him DNA without a search warrant. RP 350. Detective Hill replied that he could not. RP 350. Detective Hill stated that the search warrant was granted. RP 350. Detective Hill was asked if he was able to get a lawful search warrant in this case to collect DNA from Mr. Robison, and he replied that he was able to get the warrant. RP 351.

Detective Hill contacted the defendant's attorney advised him that the detective had a search warrant for a buccal swab and arrangements were made to meet and obtain the buccal swab. RP 351.

The defense began its case with testimony from the defendant. RP 371. The defendant testified to innocent explanations as to how his DNA got on the clothing samples. RP 374. He stated that he had no feelings for Ms. Snyder. RP 376. The defendant denied robbing the Baskin-Robbins on January 9, 2011. RP 377. On cross-examination, the defendant denied being a drug addict. RP 381. However the defendant did admit to using opiates. RP 381-82.

The defense called the defendant's mother, Ms. Karen Unser. RP 396. Ms. Unser testified that she kept a journal and that's how she knew that the defendant spent the night in his parents' home on January 9, 2011. RP 409.

Following deliberations the jury returned a verdict of guilty of first-degree robbery. CP 52. This appeal followed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT SHOWN A RECORD FOR THE ISSUE THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY PERMITTING INQUIRY OF THE DEFENDANT/APPELLANT REGARDING A DRUG ADDICTION.

The defendant makes multiple claims in his argument regarding pretrial rulings made by the trial court and how the State violated those rulings. The defendant does not cite to the record for his claims pertaining to rulings from the trial court. The defendant simply makes a claim with no citation to the record and then proceeds to argue from alleged trial court rulings that appear nowhere in the record. For example, the defendant argues that the State (with the "collusion of the court") violated an "argued and ruled upon motion..." Yet the defendant does not cite to the alleged "argued and ruled upon motion," he simply argues as if his statement was fact. App. Br., 15. The defendant takes the same approach by claiming the trial court had already weighed the State's arguments and found them "wanting." App. Br., 15. The defendant does not point to the part of the record that supports this argument. App. Br., 15.

Assuming, arguendo, that there is some part of the record that is uncited and not apparent to the State, the following argument is presented in an effort to respond to what appears to be the defendant's general argument.

The general drift of the defendant's arguments center on the State's questioning of the defendant (on cross-examination) and violating a pretrial ruling that apparently prohibited the State from arguing that the defendant was a "drug addict." The defendant does not explain how broad or narrow the trial court's alleged ruling might have been. In any event,

regardless of the nature of the alleged pretrial ruling, there is nothing in the record that shows that the State violated such a ruling.

Defense counsel objected to the line of questions asked by the State, but the trial court responded that the "door is opened." RP 383. A trial court's decision as to the scope of redirect examination and whether to admit or exclude evidence is within its wide discretion, and the courts will not reverse absent a manifest abuse of that discretion. *State v. Neal*, 144 Wn.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001); *State v. Gould*, 58 Wn.App. 175, 186, 791 P.2d 569 (1990).

The defendant did not make an argument about why or how the trial court's ruling that "the door was opened" abused the trial court's discretion. RP 382-83. Likewise, the defendant does not argue on appeal how the trial court violated its discretion in holding that the door had been opened.

This argument is without merit.

B. QUESTIONS REGARDING OBTAINING OF DNA SWABS WERE PROPER.

The defendant claims that the court violated the defendant's right to remain silent and not to incriminate himself when the State asked the detective how he had obtained a sample of the defendant's DNA. The defendant is correct that if the prosecutor had simply asked the defendant

if he refused to give a DNA sample, it probably would have been a violation of the defendant's constitutional rights. However, after taking the time to make a non-existent point, the defendant properly notes that the State *did not ask* the questions that would have violated the defendant's rights. According to the defendant, the prosecutor "skirted the issue." If the issue did not come up, it seems like a waste of time to argue it on appeal.

The defendant changes the direction of his argument and attacks one of the State's witnesses, Ms. Snyder. App. Br., 19. The defendant argues that Ms. Snyder's testimony was unreliable. The defendant makes the dubious claim that the DNA evidence just corroborated a "weak case." The defendant does not explain exactly how Ms. Snyder's testimony has anything to do with an alleged violation of the defendant's constitutional rights.

The defendant claims that repeated, overt references by the prosecutor to the defendant's refusal to voluntarily provide a DNA sample were a critical part of the State's case. What the defendant does not mention is that there were only four instances where the prosecutor asked Detective Hill about obtaining DNA from the defendant. RP 350-351. Further, the word "refused" was not used by either party. The State's line of questioning gave the jury a background for how the State obtained the

defendant's DNA. There are numerous instances of prosecutor's asking similar lines of questions to forestall a defense attack on the origin of the samples and any questions about the possibilities of the State using the wrong DNA. Chain of custody and contamination issues are commonly pursued by defendants.

The answer to the defendant's main argument, that the State was using nefarious techniques to bolster its case, is quite simple to answer: The prosecutor did not comment on the DNA search warrant issue in either his closing argument or in his rebuttal closing argument. Despite the defendant's attempts to make a mountain from a mole hill, the testimony does not support the defendant's position.

The defendant's arguments on this issue lack merit.

C. THE USE OF THE "ABIDING BELIEF" INSTRUCTION" WAS NOT ERROR.

The arguments raised by defendant on appeal have been raised and discussed many times before. The Washington State Supreme Court in *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), dealt with an "abiding belief" instruction by holding:

Without the last sentence, the jury instruction here follows WPIC 4.01, which previously has passed constitutional muster. The addition of the last sentence does not diminish the definition of reasonable doubt given in the first two sentences, but neither does it add anything of substance to WPIC 4.01. WPIC 4.01 adequately defines reasonable

doubt. Addition of the last sentence was unnecessary but was not an error.

Id. at 658.

As an aside, the defendant claims that the State objected to the giving of the contested instruction. App. Br., 22. The record does not support this claim. RP 426.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests that the conviction be affirmed.